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To All Eateemed Shareholders

Dear Sira,

It is my honor, and my colleagues, members of the Board of Directors, to express our
thanks and appreciation to H.H. Sheikh Khalifa Bin Zayed Al Nahyan, President of

the United Arab Emirates, and to H.H. Sheikh Mohamed Bin Zayed Al Nahyan,

Crowne Prince, for their continuous support and assistance to us in all fields.

With regards to the performance of National Corporation for Tourism and Hotels
(“NCTH” or the “Corporation”) for the year 2018, the total revenues of the Corporation
amounted to Dha. 709.3 Million compared to Dhs. 727.9 Million in the prior year 2017,
resulting in a decrease of Dhs. 18.6 Million or by 2.6% due to the decline in the
revenues of the Hotel Division by Dhs. 14.9 Million resulted to the decline in ARR,
translating to a decrease in profit from last year by Dhs. 9.2 Million as well as a
decline in Retail Division’s revenues by Dhs. 12 Million due to an additional 30% fees
imposed, translating to a decrease in profit of Dhs. 7.9 Million; howsver, offset by the
improved performance of the Catering Division which increased its revenues by Dhs.
6.7 Million translating to an increase in profits of Dhs. 10.6 Million. Thus, the overall
result of the Corporation for the year 2018 resulted to a net profit of Dhs. 100.5
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Million compared to last year of Dhs. 103.9 Million, a decrease of Dhs. 3.38 Million or

3.3%.

As expected, the year 2018 once again proved to be a difficult period for the hotel and
tourism industry in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi. It is common knowledge that the hotel
market is under pressure and facing many challenges mainly due to the increasing
supply especially five-star hotels, thus, the over-supply of very deluxe rooms has
negatively impacted hotel owners and operators. Generally, hotel operators have
continued the policy of reducing the room rates in order to secure occupancy and
attract more guests. Unfortunately, this policy did little to add value to the operation
and to the market as a whole. The tremendous increase of extra-deluxe hotels would
require similar increase on demand in corporate, exhibition or category of clients who
are ready to pay high room rates, this is not the situation so far; and without focusing
on attracting those segments the hotel room rates will continue to struggle. The fees
imposed on hotels during these challenging times has added more pressure on the

hotels in all segments. We believe that this needs to be reassessed.

On g positive note, during the second half of 2018, Abu Dhabi Tourism Authority
enforced a reduction on the taxes and fees imposed on the room rates in order to boost

the hotel sector, which was a welcome relief to all operators given the suffering hotel
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market. Since this was implemented only on the second half of 2018, management

expects to see the full positive effect of the rate reduction on customer demand in the

year 2019.

With regards to the performance of the Retail Division, the Abu Dhabi market for
retail sales has been seeing a constant increase in competition thus affecting the
demand and negatively affecting the performance of Retail Division. Moreover, in
2018, new 30% fees were imposed in Abu Dhabi for retail sales which we believe have
discouraged normal consumer spending. Nevertheless, management i¢ continuing to
find ways in order to counter this effects by constantly looking for new strategic store

locations and new areas where the Retail Division can fill the lack of supply.

As for the Catering division, management’s outlook is that of continuously growing
industry that is open for opportunities, and thus, the Corporation’s direction 1s to

keep on penetrating new markets and continually increase the market share.

Overall, the economy is still in a challenging period in terms of the Corporation’s
business providing very little room for revenue growth, hence, the Board direction is

to continue pursuing ways to control cost at every possible level.
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NCTaH
Despite the difficulties of the economy, NCTH met all its obligations towards the
Banks on time and succeeded to maintain solid cash and cagh equivalents and short
term deposits amounting Dhs. 496 Million compared to Dhs. 425 Million for the year
2017, for which the deposits of the Corporation have contributed to Dhs. 13.1 Million

in income. The Corporation’s liquidity supports its position to achieve its projects’

development.

Believing in UAE's solid econemy and for long-term plan, the Corporation, in keeping
up with the challenging market conditions, has been looking for all possible ways to
maximize the use of its properties and facilities; the Corporation has been extending
its full efforts in the development of the current Hotel and Hotel Apartments projects
under the brand name Marina Intercontinental of which the construction is now on
progress and expected to be completed by end of 2020. Furthermore, the Saadiyat
Island Ritz Carlton project and residential apartment building project in ADNEC
(expected to be completed by October 2021) is also ongoing and construction plans are
being finalized together with the consultants and project partners. These projects will
strengthen the Corporation’s position in the Abu Dhabi hotel market and will provide

additional revenues to the Corporation.
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On behalf of my colleagues the members of the Board of Directors, I would like to
thank the Shareholders for their support and trust, all the public and private

establishments as well as management and employees of the Corporation for their

efforts.

Thanks & regards,

National Corporation for Tourtsm and Hotels
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Tel: +971 (0) 2 408 2424
Fax:+971 (D) 2 408 2525
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Sharcholders of
National Corporation for Tourism and Hotels
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
NATIONAL CORPORATION FOR TOURISM AND HOTELS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of National Corporation for Tourism and Hotels
(the “Corporation™) and its subsidiary (together, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and the consolidated statements of profit or loss, profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We have conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Codes of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the other ethical requirements that are relevant to
our andit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Other Matter

The Group’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2017 were
audited by another auditor whose report dated 13 February 2018 expressed an unmodified opinion
thereon.

Key Audit Matters

Key aundit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial staterments of the current year. We have communicated the key audit
matters to the Andit Committee but they are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters that were
identified by our audit and that were discussed with the Audit Committee, On the following pages, we
have described the key audit matters we identified and have included a summary of the audit procedures
we performed to address those matters.

Akbar Ahmad (1141), Anls Sadek (521), Cynthia Corby (995), Georges Najem (80%), Mohammad Jallad (1164), Mohammad

Khamees Al Tah (717), Musa Ramahi (872), Mutasem M. Dajani (726), Obada Alkowatly (1056), Rama Padmanabha Acharya (701}
and Samir Madbak (386) are registered practicing auditors with the UAE Ministry of Economy,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

The key andit matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Key audit matter

| How the matter was addressed in our aodit

Application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Group adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(“IFRS 9™) with effect from 1 January 2018. IFRS
9 supersedes the requirements of 1AS 39 Financial
Instruments — Recognition and Measurement.

IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement
and hedge accounting for financial instruments
and also introduces new impairment model for
financial assets at amortised cost. Management has
determined that the most significant impact of the
new standard on the Group’'s consolidated
financial statements relates to the calculation of
expected credit losses (“ECL”) for trade
receivables.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying value of
trade receivables amounted to AED 121,582
thousand and the ECL amounted to AED 23,613
thousand (Note 9).

Management has applied a simplified approach to
recognise  life-time  expected losses  for
measurement of ECL for trade receivables. The
ECL model involves use of various assumptions,
macro-economic factors and study of historical
trends relating to the Group’s collections
experience.

We consider this a key audit matter due to the
judgments and estimates involved in the
application of the expected credit loss model.

Refer to Note 2.1 which explains the impact
application of IFRS 9, Note 3 for accounting
policy and Note 9 for related disclosures in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

We performed the following procedures in
relation to the application of TFRS 9:

e reviewed management’s assessment of the
application of IFRS 9 in terms of the
classification and measurement of financial
assets and liabilities, and understood the
approach taken towards implementation. We
specifically considered the validity of
management’s conclusion that the main area of
impact was in respect of impairment of trade
receivables, using our industry experience and
knowledge of the Group;

e compared the ECL model developed by
management to the requirements of IFRS 9
and evaluated the reasonableness of the
methodology in comparison to accepted
practice. We also tested the arithmetical
accuracy of the model;

* tested key assumptions, such as those used to
calculate the likelihood and extent of loss, by
comparing to historical data. We also
considered the incorporation of forward
looking factors to reflect the impact of future
conditions on expected credit losses; and

o involved our accounting subject matter
specialist to assess the methodology vsed in
the ECL model and compared this against
accepted practices.

We have also assessed the appropriateness of the
disclosures provided in Note 2, Note 3 and Note 9
to the consolidated financial statements,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Other Information

The Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Report of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, and the Group’s Annual Report, which are expected to be made available to us after that date. The
other information does not include the consolidated financial statements and cur auditor’s report thereon,

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we will read the Group’s Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we will be required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and consider
whether a reportable irregularity exists in terms of the auditing standards, which must be reported.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the applicable provisions
of the articles of association of the Corporation and the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such
internal control as management determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Aunditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control;

+  QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s intemnal control;

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management;

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concem. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern;

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in 2 manner that achieves fair presentation; and

+  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for cur audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

We have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with
the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015;

* The Corporation has maintained proper books of account;

* The financial information included in the Chairman’s Report is consistent with the books of account
and records of the Group;

e Ag disclosed in Note 7, the Group has not purchased or invested in shares during the financial year
ended 31 December 2018;

¢ Note 16 reflects the disclosures relating to related party transactions and the terms under which they
were conducted;

»  Note 17 reflects the disclosures relating to social contributions made during the year; and

« Based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Corporation has contravened during the financial year ended
31 December 2018 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 or, its
Memorandum and Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its financial
position as at 31 December 2018.

che (M.E.)

ada Alkowatly
Registration No. 1056
17 March 2019

Abu Dhabi

United Arab Emirates



NATIONAL CORPORATION FOR TOURISM AND HOTELS

Consolidated statement of financial position

2018
AED

1,270,049,368
244,193,443

1,514,242,811

20,932,176
177,656,853
384,557,972

111,622,917

694,769,918

2,200012,729

748,440,000
158,157,546
15,000,000

740,673,589
42,769,923

1,705,041,058

218,463,292
38,059,825

256,523,117

189,515,434
57.933,120

247,448,554

503,971,671

2,209,012,729

11

2017
AED

1,285,921.531
241,801,607
10,250,000

1.537,973,138

18,895.917
134,484,810
288,570,444

136,292,562

578,247,733

2.116,220,871

630,400,000
148,107,208
15,000,000
(612,369)
740,673,589
32,872,127

1,616.440,555

220,934,487
36,363,657

257,298,144

176,826,122
63,656,050

242482172

499,780,316

2,116,220,871

g/

as at 31 December 2018
Notes
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment s
Investment in joint ventures [
Awvailable for sale investments 7
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories 8
Trade and other receivables 9
Short term deposits 10
Cash and cash ¢quivalent 10
Total current assets
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equily
Share capital 11
Statutory reserve 12
General reserve 12
Investments revaluation reserve 12
Properties revaluation reserve 12
Retained earnings
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Term loans 13
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 14
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15
Term loans 13
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities /
Total equity and IiabW
/.;"
irman Chief Emyﬁ’tivc Officer

ana{nce Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL CORPORATION FOR TOURISM AND HOTELS

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Revenue
Direct operating expenses

Gross profit

General and administrative expenses
Share of results of joint ventures
Investment and other income, net
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Interest income

Finance costs

Profit for the year

Basic and diluted earnings per share

Notes

22
22

17

18
25

19

2018
AED

709,327,004
(591,297,854)

118,029,150
(29,458,720)
2,341,836
7,317,245
150,000
13,105,358

(10,981,493)

100,503,376

0.13

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

12

2017
AED

727,899,294
(605,215,203)

122,684,091
(29,225,174)

1,729,720

12,714,335

8,533,553
(12,555,058)

103,881,467

0.14



NATIONAL CORPORATION FOR TOURISM AND HOTELS

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Gain on revaluation of land 5

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss:
Net movement in fair value of available for sale
investments 21

Total comprehensive income for the year

2018
AED

100,503,376

100,503,376

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

13

2017
AED

103,881,467

740,673,589

(612,369)

843,942,687
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NATIONAL CORPORATION FOR TOURISM AND HOTELS

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property and cquipment
Share of results of joint venturcs
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property and equipment
Gain on transfer of property and equipment (o a joint venture
Provision for impairment on trade receivables
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Interest income
Finance cosis

Operating cash flows before mevements in working capital
Increase in inventories

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

Cash from operations
Employees’ end of service benefits paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Movement in deposits with original maturity of more than three months
Purchase of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment

Purchase of investments

Proceeds from disposat of investments

Interest received

Investment made in a joint venlure

Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary {note 25)

Net cash used im investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of term loans

Proceeds from term loans

Finance costs paid

Dircctors’ remuneration paid

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)fincrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (note 10)

2018
AED

100,503,376

34,713,288

(2,341,836)

(1,137,500)
9,608,465
1,883,719

901,000
(150,000)
(13,105,358)

10,981,493

141,856,647
(2,032,259)
(52,460,861)

20,871,217

108,234,744
(7,877,017)

100,357,727

(95,987,528)
(22,737,772)
1,287,369

11,387,500

11,352,097
(50,000)
(333,870)

(95,082,204)

(48,156,050)
37,071,559
(12,913,345)

(5,947,332}

(29,945,168)

(24,669,645)
136,292,562

111,622,917

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
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2017
AED

103,881,467

34,154,953
(1,729,720}

9,019,474
(832,169)
(2,190,283)
914,680

(8,533,553)
12,555,038

147,239,907

(3,051,048)
27,411,543
(6,276,588)

165,323,314

{7.,902,463)

157,421,351

(48,168,138)

(40,421,268}
843,961

(10,862,369}

7,769,163

(90,838,651)

(30,656,050)
13,812,126
(12,407,498)
(12,612,057)

(41,863,479)

24,719,221

111,573,341

136,292,562
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018

1 General information

National Corporation for Tourism and Hotels (the “‘Corporation™), a public shareholding company, was
incorporated in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates (“UAE”) on 11 December 1996 by Law No. (7) of 1996,
to own, manage and invest in hotels and leisure complexes and to undertake other related business. The
Corporation’s shares are listed on Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange.

The Corporation’s registered office is P.O. Box 6942, Abu Dhabi, UAE.

The Corporation owns four hotels within the UAE: (a) Abu Dhabi InterContinental Hotel, which is managed
by an international hotel operating company; and (b) Danat Al Ain Resort, Al Dhafra Beach Hotel and
Danat Jebel Al Dhanna Resort directly operated and managed by the Corporation. In addition, the
Corporation provides catering services and has investments (other than available-for-sale or fair value
through profit or loss) in the following entities:

Country of Principal Ownership Interest
Name Nature operation  activity 2018 207
Skyline Travel and Tourism Subsidiary UAE Travel - 100%
{the *Subsidiary”) agency
National Transportation Joint UAE Transport 50% 50%
Company L.L.C (“NTC”) venture services
Velocity Property Joint UAE Real 60.12% 60.12%
Development LLC Venture estate

The Corporation operates six hotel properties and rest houses through management agreements along with
four hotel properties through asset management agreements, all owned by other parties.

These consolidated financial statements include the performance and financial position of the Corporation

and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018. During
the year, the Corporation disposed of its entire 100% equity stake in the Subsidiary (note 25).

2 Adoption of new and revised Standards

21 New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018, have been adopted in these consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an entity initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the transactions for
each payment or receipt of advance consideration. This Interpretation does not have any impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

2 Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)

21 New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year (continued)

Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property to clarify transfers of property to, or from, investment
property

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or
development into, or out of investmeni property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when
the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the
change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide
evidence of a change in use. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts relating to the different effective dates of IFRS 9 and the
forthcoming new insurance contracts standards

The amendments address concerns arising from implementing the new financial instruments standard, IFRS
9, before implementing IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, which replaces IFRS 4. The amendments introduce
two options for entities issuing insurance contracts: a temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 and an
overlay approach. These amendments are not relevant to the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share Based Payment regarding classification and measurement of share
based payment transactions

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effects of
vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification
of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and
accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes
its classification from cash settled to equity settled. On application, entities are required to apply the
amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three
amendments and other criteria are met. These amendments are not relevant to the Group.

Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Clarification that measuring
investees at fair value through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice

The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, may
elect, at initial recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in associates
and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss. If an entity, that is not itself an investment entity, has
an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the
equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement applied by that investment entity associate or joint
venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests in subsidiaries. This election is made
separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of the date on which: (a) the
investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognised; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes
an investment entity; and (¢) the investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent. These
amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

2 Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)

2.1 New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In the current period, the Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (as amended
in April 2016). IFRS 15 introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition.

The Group has applied TFRS 15 in accordance with the modified retrospective transitional approach, with
effect of initially applying this standard recognised at the date of initial application, i.e. 1 January 2018.
Accordingly, information presented for 31 December 2017 has not been restated. The application of IFRS 15
has not had a significant impact on the financial position and/or financial performance of the Group.

1FRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 9 Financial Instrumenis (as revised in July 2014} and the
related consequential amendments to other IFRS Standards that are effective for an annual period that begins
on or after 1 January 2018. The transition provisions of IFRS ¢ allow an entity not to restate comparatives
and accordingly the Group has elected to not to restate comparatives in respect of the classification and
measurement of financial instruments.

Additionally, the Group adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures
that were applied to the disclosures for 2018,

IFRS 9 introduced new requirements for:

e The classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,
* Impairment of financial assets, and
*  General hedge accounting.

Details of these new requirements as well as their impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
are described below.

(a) Classification and measurement of financial assets

The date of initial application (i.e. the date on which the Group has assessed its existing financial assets and
financial liabilities in terms of the requirements of IFRS 9) is 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the Group has
applied the requirements of IFRS 9 to instruments that continue to be recognised as at 1 January 2018 and
has not applied the requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018.
Comparative amounts in relation to instruments that continue to be recognised as at 1 January 2018 have not
been restated.
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2 Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)
21 New and amended TFRS Standards that are effective for the current year (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

{a) Classification and measurement of financial assets (continued)

Management of the Company reviewed and assessed the Group’s existing financial assets as at 1 January
2018 based on the facts and circumstances that existed at that date and concluded that the initial application
of TFRS 9 has had the following impact on the Group’s financial assets as regards their classification and
measurement:

¢ the Group's investments in equity instruments that were previously classified as available-for-sale
financial assets and were measured at fair value at each reporting date under LAS 39 have been designated
as at FVTPL; and

* loans and receivables under IAS 39 that were measured at amortised cost continue to be measured at
amortised cost under IFRS 9 as they are held within a business model to collect contractual cash flows
and these cash flows consist solely of payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

The below tabulates the change in classification of the Group’s financial assets upon application of IFRS 9:

Available-for-
FVTPL sale investments

AED AED
Ending balance at 31 December 2017 - [AS 39 = 10,250,000
Reclassification investments from available-for-sale to FYTPL 10,250,000 (10,250,000)
Balance at 1 January 2018 — as restated 10,250,000 .

‘The change in classification of the Group's investments in equity securities has resulted in the fair value gain
on available-for-sale financial assets of AED 612,369 accumulated in revaluation reserve being reclassified
to the retained earnings on 1 January 2018 as follows:

31 December
207
AED
Retained earnings — IAS 39 32,872,127
Impact of reclassification of investments from available-for-
sale to FYTPL (612,369)
Retained earnings — as restated 32,259,758

None of the other reclassifications of financial assets have had any impact on the Group’s financial position,
profit or loss, other comprehensive income or total comprehensive income during the year.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

2 Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)

2.1 New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

] Impairment of financial assets

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires the Group to account
for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Specifically, IFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses on

debt investments subsequently measured at amortised cost or at FVYTOCI,
lease receivables,

e contract assets and loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts to which the impairment
requirements of [FRS 9 apply.

In particular, [FRS 9 requires the Group to measure the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an
amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, or if the financial instrument is a purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
asset. On the other hand, if the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition (except for a purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset), the Group is
required to measure the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 months ECL.
IFRS 9 also provides a simplified approach for measuring the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables in certain circumstances.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payment from 90 to 300 days past due,
depending on the business segment. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group.

As at 1 January 2018, management of the Group reviewed and assessed the Group’s existing financial assets
for impairment using reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort
in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9 to determine the credit risk of the respective items at the
date they were initially recognised, and compared that to the credit risk as at 1 January 2018.
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p Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)
2.1 New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Items existing as at Cumulative additional
1 January 2018 that are loss allowance
subject to the impairment recognised on
provisions Credit risk attributes at 1 January 2013 1 January 2018
AFED
Trade and other receivables The Group applied the simplified approach and 5,955,541
including amounts due recognised lifetime ECL for these assets.
from related parties
Cash and cash equivalents All bank balances are assessed to have low
credit risk at 1 January 2018 as they have held
with reputable local banking institutions.
5,955,541

The additional credit loss allowance of AED 5,955,541 as at I January 2018 has been recognised against
retained earnings on that date, resulting in a net decrease in retained earnings of AED 5,955,541 as at 1
January 2018. The additional loss allowance is charged against the respective asset.

The reconciliation between the ending provision for impairment in accordance with IAS 39 to the opening
lass allowance determined in accordance with TFRS 9 for the above financial instruments on 1 January 2018
is disclosed in their respective notes.

The consequential amendments to IFRS 7 have also resulted in more extensive disclosures about the
Group's exposure to credit risk in these consolidated financial staternents.

The application of IFRS 9 has had no impact on the classification and measurement of the Group's financial
liabilities.

Other than the above, there are no other significant IFRSs and amendments that were effective for the first
time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

2 Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)
22 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied the
following new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Effective for

annual periods
New and revised IFRSs beginning on or after
TFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle amending IFRS 3 1 January 2019
Business Combinations, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, IAS 12 Income Taxes
and IAS 23 Borrowing costs.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019

Amendments in TFRS 9 Financial Instruments relafing to prepayment 1 January 2019
features with negative compensation.

Amendment to IAS 19 Employee Benefits relating to amendment, 1 January 2019
curtailment or settiement of a defined benefit plan

Amendments in [AS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 Janvary 2019
relating to long-ferm interests in associates and joint ventures.

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS 1 January 2020
Standards - amendments to [FRS 2, TERS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, IAS 1, [AS

8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, TFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22, and

SIC-32 to update those pronouncements with regard to references to and

quotes from the framework or to indicate where they refer to a different

version of the Conceptual Framework

Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations relating to definition of a 1 January 2020
business

Amendments to IAS 1 and TAS 8 relating to Definition of Material 1 January 2020
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and 1AS 28 Effective date deferred
Investments in Associates and Joint Venwures (2011) relating to the indefinitely. Adoption is
treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from and investor to its still permitted.
associate or joint venture,

Except for IFRS 16 Leases, management do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in future periods.
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2 Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)

22 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases

General impact of application of IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment
in the financial statements for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease guidance
including IAS 17 Leases and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective for accounting periads
beginning on or after]l January 2019. The date of initial application of IFRS 16 for the Group will be 1
January 2019,

The Group has chosen the cumulative catch-up approach of IFRS 16 in accordance with IFRS 16. Under
this approach, the Group will recognise the cumulative impact of initially adopting IFRS 16 as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) at the
date of initial application.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements
inIAS 17,

Impact of the new definition of a lease

The Group will make use of the practical expedient available on transition to IFRS 16 not to reassess
whether a contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with IAS 17
and IFRIC 4 will continue to apply to those leases entered or modified before 1 January 2019.

The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. IFRS 16 distinguishes between
leases and service contracts on the basis of whether the use of an identified asset is controlled by the
customer. Control is considered to exist if the customer has:

the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of an identified asset; and
e the right to direct the use of that asset.

The Group will apply the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in IFRS 16 to all lease contracts
entered into or modified on or after 1 January 2019 (whether it is a lessor or a lessee in the lease contract).
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2 Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)

2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective and not early adopted (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Impact on lessee accounting

Operating leases

IFRS 16 will change how the Group accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under [AS
17, which were off-balance sheet.

On initial application of [FRS 16, for all leases (except as noted below), the Group will:

* recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position,
initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments;

e recognise depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in profit or loss;

* separate the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities)
and interest (presented within operating activities) in the consolidated cash flow statement.

Lease incentives {e.g. rent-free period) will be recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities whereas under IAS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease liability
incentive, amortised as a reduction of rental expenses on a straight-line basis.

Under IFRS 16, right-of-use assets will be tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets. This will replace the previous requirement to recognise a provision for onerous lease contracts.

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (such as personal
computers and office furniture), the Group will opt to recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis as
permitted by IFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of AED 19.2 million.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 on its consolidation financial statements.

Finance leases

The main differences beiween IFRS 16 and IAS 17 with respect to assets formerly held under a finance
lease is the measurement of the residual value guarantees provided by the lessee to the lessor. IFRS 16
requires that the Group recognises as part of its lease liability only the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, rather than the maximum amount guaranteed as required by IAS 17. On initial
application the Group will present equipment previously included in property and equipment within the line
item for right-of-use assets and the lease liability, previously presented within borrowing, will be presented
in a separate line for lease liabilities.

As at 31 December 2018, management has assessed that the impact of this change will not have an impact
on the amounts recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group does not have any
finance leases.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for land and
certain financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and services,

Fair value is the price that would be received on sale of an asset or paid on transfer of a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price 1s directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of a financial asset
or hability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which is described as follows:

s Level 1 input are quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

* Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in UAE Dirhams {AED) which is the functional
currency of the Group.

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Corporation and the
entities controlled by the Corporation. Control is achieved where the Group has power over the investee; is
exposed, or has rights, 1o variable returns from its involvement; and has the ability to use its power to affect
its retums,

The Corporation reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Corporation has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Corporation considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Corporation’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Corporation’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

+ potential voting rights held by the Corporation, other vote holders or other parties;

»  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

+ any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Corporation has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous sharcholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Corporation obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Corporation loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Corporation gains control until the date when the Corporation
ceases to control the subsidiary. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Corporation and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Corporation and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation,

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in the Corporation’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Corporation losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Corporation’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Corporation.

Business combination

Business combinations falling within the scope of TFRS 3 are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are
expensed in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combination (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed an
asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in consolidated statement of profit or
loss or as a charge to consolidated statement of other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In
instances where the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate IFRS.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports in its financial statements provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. During the measurement periad, the Group adjusts the provisional
amounts recognised at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the measurement
of the amounts recognised as of that date.

The measurement period ends as soon as the Group receives the necessary information about the facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date or learns that the information is not obtainable.
However, the measurement period cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date.

Investment in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary
to determine control over subsidiaries. The Group's investments in its joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group's share of net assets of the joint
venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the joint venture is included in the carrying amount
of the investment and is not tested for impairment individually.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment in joint ventures (continued)

The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group's share of the results of operations of the joint
venture. Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group's
other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group's share of profit or loss of a joint venture is shown on the face of the consolidated
statement of income outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling
interests in the subsidiaries of the joint venture.

The consolidated financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the
Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an
impairment loss on its investment in its joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether
there is objective evidence that the investment in the joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the joint
venture and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss as ‘share of profit of joint ventures' in the
consolidated statement of income.

Upon loss of joint control over the joint venture the Group measures and recoghises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in consolidated
statement of income.

When the Group contributes a non-monetary asset, not a business, in exchange for an equity interest in the
joint venture, it recognises any gain or loss from the transaction to the extent of the unrelated party’s interest.
The cost of the investment in the joint venture is the cost of the asset contributed plus the recognised portion
of the gain or loss plus any transaction costs or contingent consideration.

Revenue recognition

The Group has applied TFRS 15 with effect from 1 January 2018, As a result, the Group has applied the
following accounting policy in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements.

For contracts determined to be within the scope of revenue recognition, the Group is required to apply a
five-step model to determine when to recognise revenue, and at what amount. Revenue is measured based
on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it ransfers control of a
product or service to a customer.
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on the five step model set out in [FRS
15:

Step 1: Identify the contraci(s) with a customer
A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and
obligations and sets out the criteria for every contract that must be met.

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
A performance obligation is a unit of account and a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer a good
or service to the customer.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, ¢xcluding amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

For a contract that has more than one performance obligation, the Group will allocate the transaction price
to each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation.

Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation
The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

+ The customer simultaneously receives and comsumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as and when the Group performs; or

e The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
ot enhanced; or

* The Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

For performance obligations where nomne of the above conditions are met, revenue is recognised at the point
in time at which the performance obligation is satisfied.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

*  Hotel revenues

*  Retail revenues

o (Catering revenues
* Management fee
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Hospitality revenues

Hotel revenue corresponds to all the revenues received from guests of the hotels. The services rendered
(including room rentals, food and beverage sales and other ancillary services) are distinct performance
obligations, for which prices invoiced to the guests are representative of their stand-alone selling prices.
These obligations are fulfilled over time when they relate to room rentals, that is over the stay within the
hote), and at a point in time for other goods or services, when they have been delivered or rendered.

Retail revenues
For sales of goods to retail customers, revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being
at the point the customer purchases the goods at the retail outlet. Payment of the transaction price is due

immediately at the point the customer purchases the goods.

Catering revenues

Revenue is recognised in the period in which food and support services are provided in accordance with the
terms of the contractual relationships with third parties. Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for food and support services provided in the normal course of business, excluding
trade discounts, value added tax and similar sales taxes.

Management fee

Management fee is related to the provision of management, investment advisory and asset management
services to the managed hotels and is recognised when the services are performed.

Accounting policy applicable as of 31 December 2017

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the revenue can be reliably measured, Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, net of discounts and rebates.

*  Operating revenue represents the sale of hotel rooms, food and beverage, catering and other services.
These are invoiced to customers upon provision of services and delivery of goods during the year.
Revenue is stated net of allowances and rebates.

+ Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective interest method, under which the
rate used exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

e Dividend income from investments is recognised when the sharcholders' rights to receive payment is
established.

¢ Management fee is related to the provision of management, investment advisory and asset management
services to the hotels and is recognised when the service is performed.

The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific ctiteria to determine if it is acting as principal
or agent, The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements.
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Foreign currencies

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statemments, the UAE Dirham (AED) is functional and
presentation currency of the Group.

Transactions in currencies other than AED (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Property and equipment

Land is stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair
value at the date of revaluation, less any accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ significantly from that which would be
determined using fair values at the reporting date.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land is credited to the properties revaluation
reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised
as an expense, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously
expensed. A decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such Jand is charged as an expense to
the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revalvation reserve relating to a previous
revaluation of that asset.

All other property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and/or
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenses are charged io
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Assets under construction are stated at cost and are not depreciated. When commissioned, assets under
construction are transferred to the appropriate property and equipment asset category and depreciated in
accordance with the Group’s policies.
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Property and equipment (continued)

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives
of the assets as follows:

Years
Buildings 10 - 30
Mechanical, electrical and plumbing 7-10
Furniture, fixtures and operating equipment 5-7
Motor vehicles 4-5

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land are credited to consolidated other
comprehensive income and shown as an properties revaluation reserve in equity. Decreases that offset
previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited against
properties revaluation reserve directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the profit or loss.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is included in the profit of loss when the
asset is derecognised.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where
the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their
recoverable amount, being the higher of their fair value less costs to sell and their value in use.

Capital work in progress

Properties or assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes all direct costs attributable to the design
and construction of the asset including related staff costs, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. When the assets are ready for intended use,
the capital work in progress is transferred to the appropriate property and equipment or intangible asset
category and is depreciated or amortised in accordance with the Group’s policies.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there
is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset {or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impainment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value after making due allowance for any
obsolete or slow moving items. Costs are those expenses incurred in bringing each product (o its present
location and condition and are determined on a weighted average cost basis.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account
(he risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. When
some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Employees' end of service benefits

An accrual is made for the estimated liability for employees” entitlement to annual leave and leave passage
as a result of services rendered by eligible employees up to the reporting date.

Provision is also made for the full amount of end of service benefit due to non-UAE national employees in
accordance with UAE Labour Law, for their period of service up to the reporting date. With respect to its
national employees, the Group makes contributions to a UAE Govermnment pension scheme calculated as a
percentage of the employees' salaries. The Group's obligations are limited to these contributions, which are
expensed when due.
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Employees' end of service benefits (continued)

The accrual relating to annual leave and leave passage is disclosed as a current liability, while the provision
relating to end of service benefit is disclosed as a non-current liability.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial asscts and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities {other than financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Classification of financial assets and liabilities
Initial recognition

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost or fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL").

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss account:

* it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
e its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets at FVTPL
On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost as FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.
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Classification of financial assets and liabilities (confinued)
Business model assessment

The Group entities make an assessment of the objective of a business model in which a financial asset is held
at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to
management. The information considered includes:

e the frequency, volume and timing of trades of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
trades and its expectations about the future trading activity. However, information about trading activity
is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group’s stated objective
for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised;

e how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and repored to the management; and
the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed.

Financial agsets that are held for trading and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are
measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows, nor held both to collect
contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, “principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition.

“Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the
outstanding principal.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the
outstanding principal, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing
whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified
as at FEVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial

recognition.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Classification of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financiul liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities, at initial recognition, may be designated at FVTPL if the following criteria are met;

* the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis;

* the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their performance
evaluated on fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or

» the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would otherwise need to be separately
recorded.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest
expense, are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement and gain or losses
Financial assets at amortised cost:

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised
cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in the consolidated income statement. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in the
consolidated income statement,

Financial assets at FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend
income, are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Mainly includes borrowings and trade and other payables. After initial recognition, the aforementioned
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the consolidated
income statement.
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Reclassification

Financial assets

Group only reclassify financial assets if, and only if, the objective of the business model for managing those
financial assets is changed. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent as these changes must be
significant to the Group’s operations and demonstrable to external parties.

Financial liabilities

Group determines the classification of financial liabilities on initial recognition. Subsequent reclassification
is not permitted.

Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assefs

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified
asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to
cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial
asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Group recalculates the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognises the amount arising from adjusting the gross
carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in the consolidated income statement.

Financial liabilities

If the terms of a financial liability are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially
different then, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with
modified terms is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition
Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is derecognised when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but assumes an obligation to pay them
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through™ arrangement; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

Financial assers (continued)

Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecogniton that is created or retained by the
Group is recognised as a separate asset or liabilicy.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial
position, but retains either all ot substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion
of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the
value of the transferred asset.

Measured at amortised cost

Any gain or loss on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial labilities

The Group detecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled,
or expired.

Impairment of financial assefs
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model under [AS 39 with a forward-looking *expected credit losses’
(‘ECL’) model. Assessing how changes in economic factors affect ECL requires considerable judgement.

ECL are determined on a probability-weighted basis,

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on the following instruments that are not measured at
FVTPL:

e financial assets measured that are debt instruments carried at amortised cost or FVQCI; and
¢ financial guarantee contracts issued.

The Group measures loss allowances either using general or simplified approach as considered appropriate.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Under general approach, loss allowances are measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit loss
except when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since inception. In such cases, the Group

measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss.

Under simplified approach, loss allowances are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss.

Lifetime ECL: These losses are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument, if there is significant increase in credit risk or under simplified approach.

12-month ECL: These losses are the portion of ECL that result from default events that are possible within
the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than
12 months).

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. It is measured as fallows:

e financial assets that are not credit-impaired: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive); and

e financial assets that are credit-impaired: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the

present value of estimated future cash flows.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

¢ information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking inte account any collateral held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90-300 days past due, depending on the business segment, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Madifications of financial assets and financial liabilities {(continued)

Reversals of impairment

If the amount of an impairment Joss decreases in a subsequent period, and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the excess is written back by reducing

the loan impairment aliowance account accordingly. The write-back is recognised in the consolidated
statement or profit or loss.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Accounting policy applicable as of 31 December 2017

Financial assets

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trade) are recognised on the trade date, i, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group's financial assets include cash and short-term deposits, trade and other receivables and available
for sale investments.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
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Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applicable as of 31 December 2017 (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair valve through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by TAS 39. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
“investment and other income, net” in the consolidated statement of income.

Available for sale financial assets

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for
sale or are not classified in any of the other categories. After initial measurement, available for sale financial
assets are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available for sale reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in “investment and other income”, or determined to be impaired,
at which time the curnulative loss is recognised in “investment and other income, net” in the consolidated
statement of income and removed from the available-for-sale reserve.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

* the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through'

e arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass
through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, a new asset is recognised to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement in the asset.

In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset, is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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Accounting policy applicable as of 31 December 2017 (continued)

Financial assets {continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred loss event’) and that loss event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors 1s
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data
indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. ‘Significant' is to be
evaluated against the original cost of the investment and 'prolonged’ against the period in which the fair
value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses on
equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of income; increases m their fair
value after impairment are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive
incorne.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same
criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the
cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and
borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank overdraft, term loans, and derivative
financial instruments.

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Accounting policy applicable as of 31 December 2017 (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of
income when the liabilities are derecognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and
the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

While applying the accounting policies as stated in note 3, Management of the Group has made certain
judgments, estimates and assumptions that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period of the revision in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods. The critical accounting judgment and significant estimates made by management are
summarised below:

Calculation of loss allowance

When measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward looking information, which is
based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will
affect each other.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect 1o receive, taking into account cash flows
from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the
likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions
and expectations of future conditions.
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4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Calculation of loss allowance (continued)

If the ECL rates on each past due time bucket had been 0.5% higher (lower) as of December 2018, the Joss
allowance on trade receivables would have been changed as follows:

2018

AED
Due for 1 to 30 days 162,456
Due for 31 to 60 days 111,843
Due for 61 to 90 days 19,624
Due for 91 to 120 days 7,853
Due for more than 120 days 90,108

Impairment of property and equipment and capital work in progress

Properties classified under property and equipment and capital work in progress are assessed for impairment
based on the assessment of cash flows on individual cash-generating units when there is an indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. Cash flows are determined with reference to recent market
conditions, prices existing at the end of the reporting period, contractual agreements and estimations over
the useful lives of the assets and discounted using a range of discounting rates that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. The net present values are
compared to the carrying amounts to assess any probable impairment.

Useful lives of property and equipment

The useful lives and residual values of the property and equipment are based on management’s judgement of
the historical pattern of useful lives and the general standards in the industry. . It could change significantly as
a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management
will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will
write-off or write-down technical obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandon or sold.
Management has reviewed the residual values and the estimated useful lives of property and equipment in
accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and has determined that these expectations do not
significantly differ from previous estimates.

Capitalisation of capital work in progress

In determining the timing to capitalise capital work in progress, management has considered the principles
of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment. On that basis, management considers the capability of the assets
to operate in the manner intended by management, taking into consideration trends and level of production
and salability of the products.
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4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty {continued)

Revaluation of land

The Group measures its land at revalued amount. In estimating the revaluated amount of land, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available, Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. Management works closely with the qualified
external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. Based on the
valuations performed by an independent valuer, management believes that the fair value of land does not
differ significantly from its carrying amount.

Impairment of investments in joint ventures

Management regularly reviews its investments in joint ventures for indicators of impairment. This
determination of whether investments in joint ventures are impaired entails management’s evaluation of the
specific investee's profitability, liquidity, solvency and ability to generate operating cash flows from the date
of acquisition and until the foreseeable future, The difference between the estimated recoverable amount and
the carrying value of investment is recognised as an expense in consolidated profit or loss. Management is
satisfied that no impairment provision is necessary on its investments in joint ventures.

Joint arrangements

The Group holds 50% and 60.12% of the voting rights of its joint arTangements. The Group has joint control
over these arrangements as under the contractual agreements, unanimous consent is required from all parties
to the agreements for all relevant activities. The Group’s joint arrangements provide the Group and the
parties to the arrangements with rights to the net assets. Therefore, these atrrangements are classified as joint
ventures.
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5 Property and equipment (continued)

The depreciation charge has been allocated in profit or loss as follows:

2018 2017

AED AED

Direct operating expenses 32,484,984 32,165,687
General and administrative expenses (note 17) 2,228,304 1,989,266
34,713,288 34,154,953

Revaluation of land

Included in property and equipment is land stated at AED $31.8 million as at 31 December 2018
(2017; AED 831.8 million). Beginning 1 July 2017, the Group has changed its accounting policy for the
measurement of land from cost model to revaluation model. The Group engaged an accredited independent
valuer to determine the fair value of its land. On revaluation, the carrying amount of the Group’s land was
adjusted to its revalued amount.

If land was measured using the cost model, the carrying amount of land would be AED 91.1 million as at
31 December 2018 (2017: AED 91.1 million).

The fair value of the land on 1 July 2017, the revaluation date, was determined based on the market
comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similar assets adjusted for differences in key
attributes such as location, plot area and shape, potential built-up area allowance, height allowance, date of
sale, potential views and other individual characteristics. The fair value exercise was performed by an
independent valuer not related to the Group. The valuation has been carried out in accordance with RICS
Valuation Professional Standards.

Details of the Group’s land and information about the fair value hierarchy as at the valuation date (1 July
2017) are as follows:;
Revalued as at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 1 July 2017
AED AED AED AED
Land - - 831,800,000 831,800,000

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year. In estimating the fair value of land,
the highest and best use of the Jand is its current use.

Capital work in progress

At 31 December 2018, capital work in progress amounting to AED 55.09 million (2017: AED 51.8 million)
relates to a hote project which has been ongoing since 2007 - Intercontinental Hotel - Grand Marina project.
The Corporation has been working closely with their consultants for several years to meet the requirements
of government authorities regarding certain specification and design matters of the project. In January 2017,
the Corporation finally obtained the necessary approvals from the Abu Dhabi Urban Planning Council and
thereafter, the design development and piling works for this project commenced. During the year,
Corporation has appointed the contractor for the said project and the work on the project has commenced.
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5 Property and equipment (continued)

During the year, borrowing costs amounting to AED 1,962,537 (2017: AED 1,759,090) have been
capitalised.

Term loans are secured with mortgage over land and building with carrying value of AED 763.3 million
(2017: AED 768 million) (Note 13).

6 Investment in joint ventures
2018 2017
AED AED

Investment in joint ventures 244,193,443 241,801,607

{a) National Transport Comparny

Investment in joint ventures includes an investment to National Transport Company of 50%. Movement in
the investment in joint venture is as follows:

2018 2017
AED AED
At 1 January 14,523,510 12,793,790
Additional contribution 50,000 -
Share of results for the year 2,341,836 1,729,720
At 31 December 16,915,346 14,523,510

Summarised financial information in respect of National Transport Company is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture's financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs:

2018 2017

AED AED
Revenue 41,197,099 35,797,545
Cost of sales (34,136,433) (29,486,929)
Administrative expenses (2,587,758) (2,321,943)
QOther income 1,185,747 394,637
Finance costs (974,984) (923,871)

Profit for the year 4,683,671 3,459,439

Group's share of results for the year 2,341,836 1,729,720
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6 Investment in joint ventures (continued)

{a) National Transport Company (continued)

2018

AED
Property, plant, and equipment 31,443,701
Accounts receivables and prepayments 17,412,017
Cash and bank balances 591,530
Accounts payable and accruals (4,320,768)
Provision for value added tax (312,878)
Employees' end of service benefits (1,978,657)
Term loans (9,004,254)
Net assets 33,830,691
Group's share of net assets at 50% 16,915,346

{b) Velocity Property Development LLC

50

2017
ALD

39,350,962
11,285,989
1,485,250
(5,252,819)
(1,704,606)
(16,117.757)
29,047,019

14,523,510

In 2015, the Corporation and a third party company entered into a formal joint venture agreement 10
establish Velocity Property Development LLC (the “Joint Venture”) with share capital contribution of
60.12% and 39.88%, respectively. The Group will contribute land and existing works to the Joint Venture.

The Joint Venture has been formed for the purpose of developing and managing the plot located at ADNEC

area in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates.

In 2017, the control over the land and existing works as contributed by the Group with a fair value of

AED 218.6 million as determined by an external valuer were transferred to the Joint Venture.

Movement in the investment in joint venture is as follows:

2018

AED
At 1 January 227,278,097
Transferred from property and equipment (Note 5) =
Additional contribution -
Gain on transfer of property and equipment -
At 31 December 227,278,097

As at 31 December 2018, the Joint Venture has not yet started its commercial operations.

2017
AED

213,087,814
12,000,000
2,190,283

227,278,097
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7 Available for sale investments
2018 2017
AED AED
Available for sale investments - 10,250,000

In April 2017, the Group purchased quoted shares amounting to AED 10,862,369, As at 31 December 2017,
available for sale investments were classified under level 1 of fair value hierarchy. Upon adoptien of IFRS
9 on 1 January 2018, the group reclassified the available for sale investments to investment at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 2.1). During the year, the Group sold all the quoted shares for AED 11,387,500
thus resulting in a gain of AED 1,137,500. The Group has nat purchased or invested in shares during the

year.

8 Inventories
2018 2017
AED AED
Food and beverages 18,895,207 17,044,787
Engineering and operating supplies 2,036,969 1,855,130
20,932,176 18,899,917
Inventories recognised as an expense during 2018 amounted to AED 202.44 million (2017: AED 216.53
million). These were included in direct operating expenses.
9 Trade and other receivables
2018 2017
AED AED
Trade receivables 121,582,036 119,592,808
Less: allowance for impairement (23,612,931) (16,756,390)
97,969,105 102,836,418
Prepayments and advances 59,623,496 17,200,098
Interest receivable 5,247,820 3,494,559
Value-added-tax receivable 3,582,054 -
Amounts due from a related party (note 16) 100,283 1,039,812
Other receivables 11,134,095 9,913,923
177,656,853 134,484,810

Prepayments and advances include advance provided to contractor during the year amounting to AED 36.7

million related to construction of Intercontinental Hotel - Grand Marina project (Note 5).
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9 Trade and other receivables (continued)

The average credit period on sale of goods or setvices rendered is ranging from 30 to 360 days depending
on the business segment and the credit standing of the customer. No interest is charged on outstanding trade
receivables.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The
expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past
default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current financial position, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. None of the trade receivables that have been written
off is subject to enforcement activities.

The Group has adopted a policy of dealing only with creditworthy counterparties. Adequate credit
assessment is made before accepting an order for services or sale of goods from any counterparty.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade and other
receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 9.

2018 2017

AED AED

Balance as at 1 January under IAS 39 16,756,390 15,860,210
Adjustment upon application of IFRS 9 5,955,541 .
Balance as at 1 January as per IFRS 9/1AS 39 22,711,931 15,860,210
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 901,000 896,180
At 31 December 23,612,931 16,756,390
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10 Cash and bank balances

53

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the

following:

2018 2017
AED AED
Cash at bank and on hand 111,622,917 106,292,562
Short term deposits 384,557,972 318,570,444
496,180,889 424,863,006

Less: short-term deposits with original maturity of more than
three months (384,557,972) (288,570,444)
Cash and cash equivalents 111,622,917 136,292,562

Short-term deposits represents deposits held with financial institutions in the UAE and denominated in
AED and carry an interest rate of 3.9% (2017: 2% to 4%) per annum.

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between six months and one year, depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The

fair values of short-term deposits are equal to carrying amount at year end.

11 Share capital

2018
AED
Authorised capital
748,440,000 ordinary shares of AED 1 each
(2017: 680,400,000 ordinary shares of AED 1 each) 748,440,000
Issned, subscribed and paid up capital
Opening balance 680,400,000
68,040,000 bonus shares issued of AED 1 each
(2017: 113,400,000 shares of AED 1 each) 63,040,000
At 31 December 748,440,000

2017
AED

680,400,000

567,000,000

113,400,000

680,400,000

During the year, the Group issued 68,040,000 (2017: 113,400,000) bonus shares to its existing shareholders
on the basis of 10% of ordinary shares held (2017: 20% of ordinary shares held). The bonus shares are
ordinary shares and carry the same rights as other ordinary shares. The legal formalities of the issuance of
the 2018 share capital was completed during April 2018 (2017: April 2017).
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12 Reserves

Statutory reserve

In line with the provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 and the Group’s Articles of Association,
the Group is required to transfer annually (0 a statutory reserve account an amount equivalent to 10% of its
profit for the year until such reserve reaches 50% of the share capital of the Group. The statutory reserve is
not available for distribution.

General reserve
The general reserve has been established to enhance the capital base of the Group. Transfers to the general
reserve are made upon recommendation of the Board of Directors of the Group.

Properties revaluation reserve
Properties revaluation reserve represents the net unrealised gains or losses that are recognized on the
revaluation of land.

Investments revaluation reserve
Investments revaluation reserve represents the net unreleased gains or losses that are recognised on the
available for sale financial assets.

13 Term loans
2018 2017
AED AED
Term loan 1 70,000,000 105,000,000
Term loan 2 45,519,102 16,530,412
Term loan 3 - -
Term loan 4 160,877,310 165,060,125
276,396,412 286,590,537
Less: Amount due for settlement after 12 months from the end
of reporting year (classified under non-current liabilities) (218,463,292) (220,934,487
Amount due for settlement within 12 months from the end of
reporting year (classified under current liabilities) 57,933,120 65,656,050

The term loans comprise the following:

Term loan 1

In accordance with article 4 of Law No. 7 of 1996, dated 11 December 1996, the Government of Abu Dhabi
sold three hotels namely Abu Dhabi Intercontinental Hotel, Danat Al Ain resort (formerly Al Am
Intercontinental Hotel) and Al Dhafra Beach Hotel to the Group for an amount of AED 350 million. The
sale amount of AED 350 million has been granted as a long term loan by the Government of Abu Dhabi to
the Group and is to be repaid over 20 years following a grace period of 5 years commencing from
11 December 1996 being the date of the loan agreement. The loan carries simple interest at 2% per annum
to be charged after a grace period of 3 years. As at 31 December 2018, one scheduled payment duein 2018
amounting to AED 17.5 million has not been settled.
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13 Term loans (continued)

Term loan 2

During 2013, the Corporation obtained a loan facility from a local bank amounting to AED 220 million,
The loan will be utilised to for the construction of a new hotel, Grand Marina. Total drawdown as at 31
December 2018 amounted to AED 45.5 million. Repayment of the loan is due after 36 months from first
installment for main civil works contractor payments. The loan carries interest at the rate of 4% over 3-
months EBOR, subject to a minimum interest rate of 6.5% per annum. Interest is paid on a quarterly basis,
The loan is to be repaid over 9 years by 36 quarterly installments. Additional drawdown of AED 174.5
million is available for this loan as at 31 December 2018.

The loan facility is secured by the following:

() Mortgage over the Jand plots and buildings of Abu Dhabi InterContinental Hotel.
(ii} Assignment of revenues of Abu Dhabi InterContinental Hotel.

(iii)  Assignment of revenues up to AED 20 miilion of Danat Resort — Jebel Dhanna.
(iv)  Assignment of entire revenues of the new hotel.

(v) Assignment of insurance in relation to the above property.

Term loan 3

During 2014, the Corporation obtained a loan facility from a local bank amounting to AED 250 million for
a new hotel to be constructed on its Plot in Saadiyat Island, Abu Dhabi. No drawdown has been made by
the Corporation as at 31 December 2018. Repayment of the loan is due after 3 years from initial drawdown.
The loan is to be repaid in 12 years through 24 semi-annual installments. The loan carries interest at the
rate of 3.5% over 3-months EBOR, subject to a minimum interest rate of 6.5% per annum. Interest is to be
paid on a quarterly basis.

The loan facility is secured by the common security in Term Loan 2, and assignment of entire revenue of
the new hotel, and all other related assignments.

Term loan 4

During 2015, the Corporation obtained a loan facility from a local bank amounting to AED 600 million
which are split into two facilities of: (i) Facility A AED 131.6 million which is utilised to repay two existing
loans from the same local bank and (i) Facility B AED 468.4 million which will be utilised to repay another
existing loan from the same local bank and to meet future investment opportunities. Facility A was fully
utilised as at 31 December 2015, while Facility B drawdown amounted to AED 68.4 million as at 31
December 2018. Total drawdown for both facilities as at 31 December 2018 amounted to AED 200 million.
Total outstanding loan balance for both facilities as at 31 December 2018 amounted to AED 167.1 million.
Facility A carries interest at the rate of 3% over 3-months EBOR, subject to a minimum interest rate of
425% per annum. Facility B carries interest at the rate of 3.25% over 3-months EBOR, subject (0 a
minimum interest rate of 4.5% per annum. The Facilities A and B are to be repaid in 10 years from the date
of the Loan Facility Agreement through semi-annual installments and one final payment on the final
repayment date, Interest is to be paid on quarterly basis.
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13 Term loans (continued)

Term loan 4 (continued)
The loan facility is secured by the following:

(i) Mortgage over the land plots and buildings of Abu Dhabi Intercontinental Hotel, Danat Resort —
Jebel Dhanna and Al Dhafra Beach Hotel.

(ii) Assignment of insarances of Abu Dhabi Intercontinental Hotel, Danat Al Ain Resort, Danat Resort
- Jebel Dhanna and Al Dhafra Beach Hotel.

(i)  Assignment of receivables from Abu Dhabi Intercontinental Hotel, Danat Al Ain Resort, Danat
Resort — Jebel Dhanna and Al Dhafra Beach Hotel.

(iv) Pledge over bank accounts of the Corporation and its divisions, Abu Dhabi Intercontinental Hotel,
Danat Al Ain Resort, Danat Resort — Jebel Dhanna and Al Dhafra Beach Hotel.

In July 2017, the Corporation voluntarily cancelled patt of the available facility amounting to AED 400
million of the Facility B. In September 2017, the bank has approved the release of mortgage on the land
plots of Danat Resort — Jebel Dhanna and Al Dhafra Beach Hotel.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has an unamortised loan arrangement fee of AED 6.2 million (2017:
AED 7.1 million) related to the new facility and is netted off from the loan balance.

There have been no defanlts or breach of loan covenants during the year.

Reconciliation of term loan movement to the cash flows arising from financing activities is as follows:

2018 2017
AED AED

At 1 January 286,590,537 302,544,006
Cash flows
Loan drawdown 37,071,559 13,812,126
Loan repaid (48,156,050) {30,656,050)
Other non-cash items
Amortisation of transaction costs 890,366 890,365

At 31 December 276,396,412 286,590,537
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14 Provision for employees’ end of service benefit

2018 2017

AED AED
At 1 Janvary 36,363,657 35,246,646
Charge for the year 9,608,465 9,019,474
Payments during the year (7,877,017) (7,902,463)
Derecognised upon disposal of subsidiary (note 25) (35,280) -
At 31 December 38,059,825 36,363,657
15 Trade and other payables

2018 2017

AED AED
Trade and other payables 129,451,612 106,301,273
Acecrued liabilities 38,917,009 47,130,529
Due to related parties (Note 16) 12,543,434 12,297,255
Advances from customers 3,274,270 3,768,094
Value-added-tax payable 3,250,812 -
Interest payable 1,502,084 4,324,301
Retentions payable 576,213 3,004,670

189,515,434 176,826,122

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms. Other payables are non-
interest bearing and have an average term of six months.

16 Related parties

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions at agreed terms and conditions which
are carried out on commercially agreed terms, with other business enterprises or individuals that fall within
the definition of a related party contained in International Accounting Standard 24. Related parties comprise
shareholders, directors, key management staff and business entities in which they have the ability to control
or exercise significant influence in financial and operating decisions.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The sales to and services from related parties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding balances at the
year end are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided
or received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties (2017: Nil). This
assessment is undertaken cach financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and
the market in which related party operates.
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16 Related parties (continued)

58

Balances with these related parties generally arise from commercial transactions in the normal course of
business on arm’s length basis. Balances with refated parties reflected in the consolidated statement of

financial position at the reporting date comprised:

Related party
relationship
Due from a related party (note 9)
National Transportation Company LLC
(NTC) Joint Venture

Due to related parties (note 15)
National Transportation Company LLC (NTC) Joint Venture
Velocity Property Development LLC Joint Venture

Significant transactions with related parties are as follows:

Directors’ remuneration paid (note 21)

Expenses paid on behalf of a shareholder

Rental income

Other expenses charged to NTC

Payments received from a shareholder

Management fee income from managed hotels

Key management personnel compensation
Short term benefits
Post-employment benefits

There were no loans provided to directors for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

2018
AED

100,283

543,434
12,000,000

12,543,434

2018
AED

5,941,332

3,147,183

280,936

2,603,451

2,983,282

6,647,581

10,035,625
860,762

10,896,387

2017
AED

1,039,812

297,255
12,000,000

12,297,255

2017
AED

12,612,057

250,894

283,364

1,808,286

384,248

7,423,921

12,678,744
670,376

13,348,120
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17 General and administrative expenses

Payroll and employee related costs
Depreciation {note 5)
Other operating expenses

The Group has made social contribution to the following beneficiaries:

Sandooq al Watian

Al Tareq Rehabilitation and Autism Centre LLC

Event sponsorship for Shaikha Latifa Award for Childhood
Creativity

2018
AED

21,952,669
2,228 304
5,277,747

29,458,720

2018
AED

10,000

10,000

20,000

39

2017
AED

21,335,735

1,989,266
5,900,173

29,225,174

2017
AED

1,000,000
10,000

1,010,000

The contributions do not exceed 2% of the average net profit of the Group during the two financial year ends

preceding the year of contribution.

18 Investment and other income, net

Management fees

Gain on sale of financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss

(Loss)/gain on sale of property and equipment

Gain on transfer of property and equipment to a joint
Venture

Other income

2018
AED

6,647,581
1,137,500
(1,883,719)

1,415,883

7,317,245

2017
AED

7,423,921
832,169
2,190,283

2,267,962

12,714,335
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19 Basic and diluted earnings per share
2018 2017
AED AED
Profit for the year 100,503,376 103,881,467
Weighted average number of share in issue 748,440,000 748,440,000
Basic and diluted eamings per share 0.13 0.14

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Corporation has not issued any instrument which would have
dilutive impact on earnings per share when converted or exercised and accordingly, diluted earnings per
share is equal to basic earnings per share.

20 Bonus shares

In March 2018, issuance of AED 68.04 million bonus shares were proposed by the Board of Directors.
Issuance of these shares was approved in the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 19 April 2018 (2017:
AED 113.4 million bonus shares were approved in the AGM held on 24 April 2017).

21 Board of Directors remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the remuneration of the Board of Directors amounting to AED 5.9
million was approved in the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 19 April 2018 (2017: remuneration
of the Board of Directors for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounting to AED 12.6 million was
approved in the AGM held on 24 Apnl 2017).

22 Segment information
Products and services from which reporiable segments derive their revenues

Information reported to the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM))
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance is focused on nature of
products or services provided. The primary segment reporting format is determined to be operating segments
as the Group’s risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services
provided. The operating segments are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the
products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic operating unit that offers different
products and serves different markets.
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22 Segment information (continued)
Operating segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into four major operating segments. These
segmenis are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segmental information. These are:

Hotels - Providing room and food and beverages services to customers;

Retail services — Providing beverage sales services to customers;

Catering services — Providing catering services on a contract basis; and

Holding — responsible for managing investments held by the Corporation, development and management
of hotels and general coordination of the Corporation’s activities.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocations and performance management. Segment performance is measured based
on profit or loss. The Group has only one geographical segment — United Arab Emirates.

Information regarding these segments is presented below.
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22 Segment information (continued)
Timing of revenue recognition
Retail Catering
Hotels services services Holding Elimination Total

31 December 2018 AED AED AED AED AED AED
Timing of revenue

recogition

At a point in time 111,036,378 88,060,534 416,296,392 6,067,963  (10,675,062) 610,786,205

Over time 98,540,799 - - - - 98,540,799
Revenue 209577177 88,060,534 416,296,392 6,067,963  {10,675,062) 709,327,004
31 December 2017
Timing of revenue

recogitition

At a point in time 116,974,804 100,080,362 409,598,226 4,504,266 (10,786,136) 620,371,522

Over time 107527772 - - - - 107,527.772
Revenue 224,502,576 100,080,362 409,598,226 4,504,266 (10,786,136) 727,899,294
23 Contingencies and commitments
Contingencies

Bank guarantees

At 31 December 2018, the Group had outstanding contingent liabilities in respect of letters of guarantee of
AED 84.4 million (2017; AED 79.8 million).

Legal cases

The Group is a defendant in an arbitration case before the Abu Dhabi Commercial Conciliation &
Arbitration Center filed by Millennium & Copthorne Middle East Holdings Limited. Based on the agreed
procedural order, the arbitration case is expected to conclude in June 2019. Management believes that there
is a reasonable ground for a favourable decision for the Corporation and that the arbitration matter is likely
to be dismissed as it is not based on factual or legal basis and no financial Liability is expected to accrue as
a consequence of the arbitration case against the Corporation. Therefore, no provision has been made in the
consolidated financial statement in this regard.
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23 Contingencies and commitments (continued)
Contingencies (continued)

Legal cases (continued)

The Group is also defendant in labour related legal proceedings which arose in the normal course of
business. The Group does not expect that the outcome of such proceedings will have a material impact on
the Group’s operations, cash flows or financial position.

Capital commitments

At 31 December 2018, the Group had estimated commitments for the Grand Marina Hotel, Saadiyat Hotel,
and Al Dhafra Beach Hotel renovation of AED 237.1 million (2017: AED 27.3 million).

Non-cancellable operating leases

The Group as lessee

The Group leases accommodation for its staff under non-cancellable operating lease expiring within three
years. On renewal, the term of the lease is renegotiated. Commitment for minimum lease payments in
relation 1o non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

2018 2017

AED AED

Within one year 17,148,805 10,507,383
Later than one year but not more than 5 years 2,067,502 2,503,575
19,216,307 13,010,958

The Group as lessor

At the reporting date, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease
payments:

2018 2017
AED AED
Within one year 4,478,399 -
Later than one year but not more than 5 years 4,986,608 =

9,465,007 -
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24 Financial instruments
Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios
in order 1o support its business and maximise shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years end 31 December
2018 and 2017.

Financial risk management objectives

The Group is exposed to the following risks related to financial instruments - credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign
currency risk and price risk. The Group has not framed formal risk management policies, however, the risks
are monitored by management on a continval basis. The Group does not enter into or trade in financial
instruments, investment in securities, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative or risk
management purposes.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group. Key areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk are trade and other
receivables and bank and cash balances (liquid assets).

The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating
the risk of financial less from defaults. The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit
exposures, limiting transactions with specific non-related counterparties, and continually assessing the
creditworthiness of such non-related counterparties.

Concentration of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities,
or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economi¢ features that would cause their ability
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments
affecting a particular industry or geographic location. Details on concentration of trade receivable balances
are disclosed in note 9, Management believes that the concentration of credit risk is mitigated by high credit
rating and financial stability of its trade custorers

Balances with banks are assessed to have low credit risk of default since these banks are among the major
banks operating in the UAE and are highly regulated by the central bank. The amount that best represents
maximum credit risk exposure on financial assets at the end of the reporting period, in the event counter
parties fail to perform their obligations generally approximates their carrying value.
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24 Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its funding requirements. The table below
summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilitics. The contractual maturities
of the financial liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at the end of reporting
period to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure adequate
liquidity is maintained. The maturity profile of the non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of reporting
period based on contractual repayment arrangements are as follows:

Less tham 6o 12 ItoS Maore than
On demand 6 months months years 5 years Total
AED AED AED AED AED AED
At 31 December 2013
Term lozns 17,500,000 11,466,560 28,966,560 153,732,480 70,963,377 282628977
Trade and other payables - 185,664,951 576,213 - - 186,241,164
Total 17,500,000 197,131,511 29542773 153,732,480 70,963,377 468,870,141

At 31 December 2017
Term loans 35,000,000 6,578,025 24,078,025 182,011,227 46,046,191 293,713,468
Trade and other payables - 170,053,358 3,004,670 . - 173,058,028

Total 35,000,000 176,631,383 27,082,605 182,011,227 46,046,191 466,771,496

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s transactions are principally in UAE Dirhams or US Dollars, to which the UAE Dirham is
pegged and therefore the Group does not face any foreign currency risks.

Interest rate risk management
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the finance income or
finance cost of the Group. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its term deposits and bank

borrowings that carry both fixed and floating interest rates which are detailed in notes 10 and 13.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to variable interest rates mainly
arising from bank borrowings, assuming the amount of liability at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year.

At 31 December 2018, if interest rates on borrowings had been 10 basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, profit for the year would have been AED 0.21 million (2017: AED 0.18 million)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of highet/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

The Group’s borrowings are denominated in UAE Dirhams.
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24 Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The Group’s management considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities
approximates their fair value.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

e Level 1 - fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities;

¢ Level 2 - fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.¢c., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from
prices); and

* Level 3 — fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for
the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

25 Disposal of a subsidiary

During the year, the Corporation disposed of its entire 100% equity stake in a Subsidiary (Skyline Travel and
Tourism) to an unrelated party for AED 150,000.

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost

2018
AED

Non-current assets
Property and equipment 725,559
Current assers
Trade and other receivables 4,335,538
Cash and cash equivalents 333,870
Non-current liabilities
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits (35,280}
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (5,614,515)

Net assets disposed of (254,828)
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25 Disposal of a subsidiary (continued)

Gain on disposal of subsidiary

Consideration receivable
Net assets disposed off
Other liabilities

Gain on disposal

Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary

Cash and cash equivalent balances disposed of

26 Approval of consolidated financial statements

69

2018
AED

150,000

254,828
(254,828)

150,000

2018
AED

333,870

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue

on 17 March 2019.



